2001

William Anthony Kraatz v. Heritage Imports, a Utah corporation, dba Heritage Honda, and O. Bryan Wilkinson, and Jeffrey J. Wilkinson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Final Judgment was entered on June 29, 2001 [Addendum ("Add.") B, Record on Appeal ("R.") 5037-39]. Plaintiff timely filed his notice of appeal to the Utah Supreme Court on July 17, 2001 (R. 5047-48) pursuant to UTAH R. APP. P. 4(a) and UTAH CODE ANN. §-78-2-2(3)(j). The Utah Supreme Court transferred this appeal to this Court pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(4). This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue No. 1: Whether in determining Plaintiff William Anthony Kraatz's ("**Kraatz**") damages the trial court erred in finding that the value of 100% of the stock of Defendant Heritage Imports ("**Heritage**") was worth \$3.1 million, based upon Larry H. Miller's ("**Miller**") testimony that he had purchased 60% of the stock for that amount.

Standard of Review: Whether the challenged finding is "against the clear weight of the evidence" or such that "the appellate court otherwise [may reach] a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made." *State v. Walker*, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987). A finding is clearly erroneous if it is without adequate evidentiary support or is induced by an erroneous view of the law. *Id.* Appellant must marshal the evidence in support of the finding and then show why the finding was clearly erroneous. *Saunders v. Sharp*, 793 P.2d 927 (Utah App. 1990), remanded on other grounds, 806 P.2d 198 (Utah 1991). The appellate court will presume a trial court's award of damages to be correct and

will overturn it only if it is clearly erroneous with no reasonable support in the evidence.

Glezos v. Frontier Investments, 896 P.2d 1230, 1235 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

Citation to the Record Showing Preservation of the Issue: R. 5084-87.

Issue No. 2: Whether the trial court erred in excluding from the calculation of Kraatz's damages, all benefits of his employment which were not expressly required by the employment agreement he signed, even though such benefits were allowed by the agreement and were actually enjoyed by him during his employment and provided to his successor.

Standard of Review: The appellate court reviews the trial court's legal conclusions for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court. *Reliance Insurance Co. v. Utah Department of Transportation*, 858 P.2d 1363, 1366 (Utah 1993).

Citation to the Record Showing Preservation of the Issue: R. 5073-84.

Issue No. 3: Whether in calculating the profit bonus Kraatz would have earned had he not been wrongfully discharged, the trial court erred in refusing to allow adjustments of Heritage's reported profits in light of undisputedly excessive expenses paid to or for the benefit of Heritage's majority shareholder (Larry Miller), based on the court's interpretation of language in the employment contract.

Standard of Review: Where a court's interpretation of an employment contract presents a question of law, the appellate court shall review the court's conclusions for correctness, affording no deference. *Glick v. Holden*, 889 P.2d 1389, 1392 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

Citation to the Record Showing Preservation of the Issue: R. 5071-73.

Issue No. 4: Whether the trial court erred in refusing to award Kraatz, as part of his damages, all of the expert witness fees he incurred and all of the deposition costs he incurred, given the language of the employment agreement entitling him to all costs and expenses as the prevailing party at trial.

Standard of Review: A trial court's interpretation of costs awardable under a contract presents a question of law, which the appellate court shall review for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court. *Chase v. Scott*, 2001 Utah Ct. App. 404, ¶ 10, 437 Utah Adv. Rep. 20.

Citation to the Record Showing Preservation of the Issue: R. 5087-89.

Issue No. 5: Whether the trial court erred in refusing to award pre-judgment interest on some of Kraatz's damages, and his attorney fees and costs.

Standard of Review: Entitlement to pre-judgment interest is a question of law that the appellate court reviews for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court. *Lefavi v. Bertoch*, 2000 Utah Ct. App. 5, ¶ 23, 994 P.2d 817.

Citation to the Record Showing Preservation of the Issue: R. 5089-98.

Issue No. 6: Whether as to damages on which the trial court did not award pre-judgment interest, the trial court erred in refusing to increase Kraatz's damage award by the Consumer Price Index in order to compensate Kraatz for the diminished value of United States currency between the time or times his damages arose and the time of judgment.

Standard of Review: This is an issue of law to be reviewed by the appellate court for correctness, affording the trial court no deference. *Reliance Insurance Co.*, *supra*.

Citation to the Record Showing Preservation of the Issue: R. 5098-99.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action by Kraatz for wrongful termination of a written five-year Employment Agreement (the "**Contract**"), by his employer, Heritage. Kraatz asserted claims for breach of contract and related claims against Heritage and its officers (R. 1-41). After a bench trial ending on August 30, 1996, the trial court found in favor of Defendants, ruling that Heritage had terminated Kraatz for cause under the Contract (R. 1681-1720).

Kraatz appealed, challenging many of the trial court's findings as clearly erroneous. This Court reversed (1999 Utah Ct. App. 70) and remanded the case to the trial court with instructions to determine the amount of Kraatz's damages, along with attorney fees and costs as provided by the Contract.

After remand, the parties briefed the issues of damages, attorney fees and costs, based on the evidence at trial, as supplemented (R. 5060). Kraatz claimed total damages, attorney fees and costs of \$1,073,437.68, consisting of \$553,485.00 in lost wages and benefits, \$432,941.36 in attorney fees, \$48,186.26 in expert witness fees, and \$38,825.06 in costs. In addition, Kraatz claimed \$440,840.80 in pre-judgment interest, for a total claim of \$1,514,278.48. The trial court took additional evidence, heard argument and entered Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law (Add. A, R. 4974-5020) and

Judgment (Add. B, R. 5037-39), awarding Kraatz \$643,816.99, consisting of damages for lost wages and benefits of \$124,118.56, pre-judgment interest thereon of \$21,828.67 plus \$9.35 per day until entry of Judgment, attorney fees of \$432,941.36, expert witness fees of \$35,502.09, and costs of \$29,155.16.

The \$124,118.56 award for lost wages and benefits consisted of the following (Add. A, R. 5014):

Base Salary	\$35,255.70
Annual Fixed Bonus	12,000.00
Profit Bonus Credit (<i>i.e.</i> , net offset)	(46,082.28)
Demonstrator Auto	15,951.03
Health Insurance Benefits	16,994.11
Stock Appreciation	90,000.00

In determining Kraatz's damages, the trial court, as a matter of law, disallowed any recovery for compensation or benefits Kraatz enjoyed as an employee of Heritage which were not expressly required by the Contract (Add A, R. 5001). Thus, the trial court rejected, as a matter of law, the following consequential damages claimed by Kraatz in the following amounts (based on the value of each during the remaining term of the Contract) (Add. A, R. 5002, 5017, 5041-44, 5073-84, Ex. 302).¹

<u>Category</u>	<u>Amount</u>
401(k) Retirement Contributions	\$8,109.04
Season tickets to the Utah Jazz	18,898.50
Annual Christmas bonuses	1,500.00
Second home (St. George) Reimbursement	2,210.53

¹Excerpts of Plaintiff's Ex. 302 and 302(c) are attached hereto as Add. D and E. respectively.

Warranty income	119,856.51
Private (non-business) use of Sports Mall membership	6,187.50

The trial court also rejected, as a matter of contract interpretation, Kraatz's claims to the following benefits expressly required by the Contract:

1. A profit bonus in the amount of \$107,952.03 [before mitigation, \$26,894.34 after mitigation (Ex. 302) based on the earnings of Heritage after his discharge (Add. A, R. 4997-98; R. 5071); and

2. The value of the use of a membership at the Hidden Valley Country Club in the amount of \$10,863.00 (Add. A, R. 4997-99, R. 5075, Ex. 302).

The trial court also rejected, on factual grounds, Kraatz's claims to:

1. \$285,000.00 of "stock appreciation" rights (instead, awarding \$90,000.00 on this claim) (Add. A, R. 4999-5001, R. 5087); and

2. Unreimbursed health care costs for 1991 in the amount of \$3,484.26 (Add. A, R. 4998-99).

The trial court also rejected, as a matter of law, Kraatz's claims to \$9,369.90 in deposition costs (Add. A, R. 5003, 5019, 4318-20, 4955); and \$12,684.17 in expert witness fees (Messrs. Schmidt and Hall) (Add. A, R. 5002-03, 5018, 4231, 4956).

The trial court further rejected, as a matter of law, Kraatz's claim to prejudgment interest on "Stock Appreciation" damages [which would be \$79,200.00 in interest on the \$90,000.00 the trial court awarded or \$208,245.20 (R. 4230) in interest on the \$285,000.00 Kraatz sought], on the attorney fee award (\$79,020.51 in interest) (R.

4927-29; 4966), and on the expert fees, deposition and other litigation expenses Kraatz claimed (\$15,671.20 in interest) (R. 4315, *see also* Add. A, R. 5003-04, 5014-15).

The trial court also rejected Kraatz's contention (R. 5098-99) that his damages on which pre-judgment interest was not awarded should be increased based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index, to compensate for the measurable loss in the value of the U.S. dollar over time (Add. A).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kraatz's damages arise out of Heritage's (n/k/a Larry H. Miller Honda) wrongful termination, on September 11, 1992, of his written employment Contract, pursuant to which Kraatz was promised employment for at least five years (through June 15, 1995), and substantial compensation. Under the Contract, Kraatz's compensation and benefits include (1) \$8,000.00 per month, (2) a yearly bonus equal to \$4,000.00 plus ten percent (10%) of the dealership's net profits in excess of \$280,000.00, (3) two demonstrator automobiles (including insurance, maintenance and gasoline), (4) use of a Salt Lake Sports Mall family membership, (5) use of a Hidden Valley Country Club membership, (6) health insurance for Kraatz and his family, (7) reimbursement of non-covered healthcare costs incurred by Kraatz and his family, not to exceed \$5,000.00 per year; (8) expenses related to Kraatz's relocation from St. George to Salt Lake City, and (9) "additional compensation within the discretion of Company" (Add. C, Ex. 38, ¶¶ 3.1, 3.2, 3.4 and Schedules A & C, R. 4063, 4067, 4071-72; R. 1759).

During Kraatz's employment, Heritage agreed to pay him substantial "additional compensation" over and above the first eight items specified in the Contract, such as contributions to a retirement plan (R. 1872-73), Christmas bonuses (R. 1865), participation in profits from the sale of automobile warranty contracts (R. 1873-74), season tickets to the Utah Jazz (R. 1872), and additional reimbursement of expenses associated with Kraatz's move from St. George to Salt Lake City (R. 1872, *see also* R. 1777, 1799-1807, 1808, 1835-36, 1872-75).

Under the Contract, Kraatz is also entitled to an amount equal to 15% of the value of the dealership over \$2.5 million upon the termination of his employment without cause. (*See*, Add. C, Ex. 38 ¶ 3.2 and Schedule B, R. 4063, 4068-70.)

A. LOST WAGES AND BENEFITS.

Mr. Bruce Wisan, CPA, presented to the trial court a detailed calculation summarizing the damages suffered by Kraatz, showing lost wages and benefit damages of \$268,485.55, after mitigation from Kraatz's subsequent employment. (*See*, Ex. 302, R. 4079.) Mr. Wisan's calculations were not challenged by Heritage. Indeed, Heritage's counsel advised the court that he had no objection to Mr. Wisan's calculations and urged Kraatz's counsel to forego foundational testimony from Kraatz, as to the bases for Mr. Wisan's opinion, on the grounds that it was unnecessary (R. 1808).

Mr. Wisan's calculations consist of 13 categories of compensation, in the form of wages and benefits, Heritage owed to Kraatz. Nine categories are at issue on appeal as follows:

1. Profit Sharing. The Contract entitles Kraatz to receive 10% of the dealership's profits in excess of \$280,000.00 per year [Add. C, Ex. 38, Sch. "A," ¶ (b), R. 4067]:

A yearly bonus equal to \$4,000.00 plus 10 percent (10%) of the Dealership Net Profits in excess of \$280,000.00 determined in accordance with accounting practices acceptable to and used by company in reporting to American Honda, Inc., or such other accounting method as is mutually acceptable to both company and employee.

Within 90 days after Kraatz was wrongfully discharged, O. Bryan Wilkinson ("**Wilkinson**") agreed to sell his 60% stock ownership in Heritage to Miller and had no more influence over the dealership or its finances (R. 2086-87, 2210-13). In January 1993, Miller implemented his own management policies (R. 2419-20; Ex. 208, 333, R. 4078, 4138). The corporate entity with which Kraatz had contracted did not change (R. 1026, Joint Pretrial Order).

At trial, Mr. Wisan calculated that Kraatz was entitled, before mitigation, to \$107,952.03 (Ex. 302) in lost income from his contractual right to share in the net profits of Heritage earned after his wrongful discharge. In making his calculation, Mr. Wisan made adjustments for two unreasonable expenses not directly related to the production of income. The reported profits were adjusted so as not to burden Kraatz with the price paid to Wilkinson for the stock purchased by Larry Miller (which Miller had arranged for Heritage to pay) (R. 2109-10; 2217; 2233, 2187-88; 4072) and undisputedly excessive

rents Miller caused Heritage to pay to himself as Heritage's landlord after he took over (Ex. 302 at Sch. A-1.2 and A-1.2-2, R. 2109-13, 2238; 4081).

To show the effect each of the adjustments had on the calculation of Kraatz's damages, Mr. Wisan prepared Exhibits 327 and 328 (R. 4138-39). These exhibits showed that if the rent adjustment were not allowed it would decrease Kraatz's damages award by \$20,073.33, and if the stock purchase adjustment were not allowed it would decrease Kraatz's award by an additional \$54,362.83 (Ex. 327, 328). While Kraatz's right to share in Heritage's net profits was not disputed, the trial court rejected Mr. Wisan's calculation of those profits based on its interpretation of the above-quoted language of the Contract and the following rationale (Add. A, R. 4997-98):

Plaintiff sought to adjust Heritage's accounting practices for portions of the purchase price and for the rent charged by Miller. (Ex. 302.) However, under the Agreement any profit bonus due Plaintiff is to be based on the "accounting practices acceptable to and used by Company in reporting to American Honda." As the Court of Appeals held on p. 2, of the Memo Decision, where the Agreement is unambiguous, "the parties' intentions must be determined solely from the language of the contract." There is no evidence American Honda ever objected to the accounting methods actually used by Heritage. While Plaintiff is willing to claim the benefits from Larry H. Miller's operation of the Dealership in the form of profits earned, he must also take any burdens in the form of Larry H. Miller's "accounting practices acceptable to and used by the Company in reporting to American Honda."

2. Sports Mall Membership. Schedule A of the Contract states that Kraatz would receive as additional compensation:

Use of a Salt Lake Sports Mall family membership during the term of the agreement. . . . Employee shall be responsible for all charges relating to nonbusiness use of the membership.

[Add. C, Ex. 38, Sch. A, ¶ (d), R. 4067.]

Wilkinson admitted that during Kraatz's employment, Wilkinson authorized Heritage to pay all of the Sports Mall dues and fees incurred by Kraatz and his family (regardless of nonbusiness use), and that this had become part of Kraatz's compensation (R. 1872-73). Nevertheless, the trial court disallowed any recovery by Kraatz for the loss of this benefit because the Contract, as signed, obligates Heritage to pay only for Sports Mall expenses "related to business use" (R. 4999).

3. Country Club Membership. Schedule A of the Contract states that Kraatz would receive as additional compensation:

Use of an equity membership in Hidden Valley Country Club commencing June 1, 1992, and continuing throughout the term of this agreement. . . . Employee shall be responsible for all charges related to nonbusiness use of the membership.

[Add. C, Ex. 38, Sch. A, ¶ (e), R. 4067.]

At trial Heritage's counsel made much of the fact that Kraatz had not incurred any charges on the membership throughout the two years of his employment (R. 1859)—apparently oblivious to the fact that Kraatz's entitlement to the membership did not accrue until June 1, 1992, and that the promised membership was never actually given him before he was fired approximately three months later (September 11, 1992) (R. 1859).

Mr. Wisan valued Kraatz's right to the Country Club membership based upon his conversations with Kraatz wherein Kraatz indicated that he would use the membership in the summer months to the extent of three golf trips per month (or, in other words, six golf rounds for Kraatz and his guest) (Ex. 312, Sch. A1.5.; R. 4085). Mr. Wisan contacted the Country Club to ascertain the cost of a membership and related expenses for the indicated usage and derived a value of \$4,152.00 per year, for a total of \$10,863.00 during the remaining term of the Contract (R. 2117; Ex. 302, Sch. A1.5. Mr. Wisan's methodology was not challenged at trial. The trial court nevertheless denied Kraatz any recovery for the loss of this benefit because (Add. A, R. 4999):

Plaintiff admitted at trial that in [the] twenty-seven months he was General Manager, he did not use the Hidden Valley membership for business use (R. 1859). The Court of Appeals did not overturn these admissions, and therefore, there is no basis for recovery by Plaintiff.

4. St. George Home Reimbursement. Schedule C of the Contract states that Kraatz would receive additional compensation consisting of reimbursement for leaving his home in St. George and moving to Salt Lake City as follows:

Commencing on the date on which the new residence being constructed for Employee is available for occupancy, and continuing thereafter for a period of not to exceed six (6) months, duplicate housing expenses incurred by Employee prior to the sale of Employee's residence in St. George, Utah. During said period, Company shall reimburse Employee for the lesser of (a) Employee's house payment on the residence in St. George or (b) Employee's house payment on the new residence in the Salt Lake area. Employee shall be required to use all reasonable effort to effect the sale of Employee's St. George residence. House payment is defined as the payment of

monthly loan principal and interest and reserves for taxes and insurance for an employee owned residence. Company's obligation to reimburse Employee for those duplicate housing expenses shall terminate at the earlier to occur of (a) the expiration of said six month period, or (b) the sale of Employee's residence in St. George.

(Add. C, Ex. 38, Sch. C, ¶ 6, R. 4071-72.)

Thereafter, the Contract was modified in two ways with respect to this provision. First, Kraatz did not require Heritage to pay the entire monthly mortgage payment for the St. George property, but only the differential between the mortgage payment and the rental amount that Kraatz received from the property (R. 1767-69). Heritage, on the other hand, agreed that it would continue to pay this differential until the home was sold and would not limit its commitment to the six months following Kraatz's move to Salt Lake City (R. 1872, Ex. 305).

Heritage continued to pay Kraatz this differential, in the amount of \$631.58 per month, only through September 1992, when Kraatz was discharged (Ex. 302). Kraatz finally sold the St. George home in December 1992, and therefore seeks recovery of only \$2,210.53 on this item of compensation.

The trial court, as a matter of law, refused to award Kraatz any damages for the loss of this and other benefits, with the following analysis (Add. A, R. 5001):

Paragraph 3.2 of the Agreement provides "Employee may receive additional compensation **within the discretion of Company** for other services rendered or other duties as assigned by the Company and agreed to by Employee." (Ex. 38.) (Emphasis added.) There is no basis to award Plaintiff additional compensation since he:

failed to demonstrate any evidence of further consideration given by him for any additional compensation or perks received during his employment. The use of Jazz tickets, payments for Plaintiff's daughter's tennis lessons, participation in service contract companies of Lariat and Ryan, retirement, Christmas bonus, or St. George home subsidy are not "compensation" under the Agreement. (Original CL B.11; See also, original CL B.4 & 12.)

* * *

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