2001

William Anthony Kraatz v. Heritage Imports, O. Brian Wilkinson, Jeff J. Wilkinson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kraatz appealed many of the trial court's Amended Findings concerning damages. In doing so, Kraatz relied on the wrong standard of review for several of his arguments. Kraatz admits his claim regarding stock valuation is subject to the twin tests of clearly erroneous, after first having marshaled all the evidence. In an attempt, however, to obtain a more favorable standard of review, Kraatz couches his arguments for extracontractual damages and yearly bonuses as questions of law. As noted under Statement of the Issues above, these issues are likewise subject to clearly erroneous and

marshalling standards. His claims regarding expert fees and costs, prejudgment interest, and CPI adjustments are all simply arguments that the damages awarded were too low.

Kraatz is entitled to damages for breach of his Contract. The award made by the trial court, however, is neither clearly erroneous or unsupported by the law. The trial court's valuation of Stock Appreciation Rights should be affirmed, as it was based upon the credible testimony of Larry H. Miller, who purchased the dealership. Further, the accounting methods used by Heritage to calculate yearly bonuses were accepted by American Honda, Inc., and passed an IRS audit, and Kraatz never objected to the accounting while he was employed with Heritage. Neither finding is clearly erroneous.

Kraatz is also not entitled to extracontractual damages. This Court only remanded "for a determination of damages under the contract, including reasonable attorney fees." (Memo Decision, p.4). Further, Kraatz failed to preserve and raise most of his extracontractual claims in his first appeal. In either event, he is precluded from doing so now for the first time in his second appeal.

The trial court's award of expert witness fees should not be disturbed on appeal because the experts in question did not testify at trial. Likewise, the trial court's award for deposition costs should not be altered since these depositions were non-essential and unnecessary in prosecuting this case.

Finally, the trial court's decision denying prejudgment interest for damages that

were not liquidated or capable of calculation with mathematical certainty should not be disturbed.

As to Heritage's Cross-Appeal, the trial court awarded Kraatz all the attorney fees requested, even though Kraatz achieved only partial success on one of seven causes of action against one of three defendants. The lower court awarded him attorney fees that were three and one-half times greater than the principal damages he received. In doing so, the lower court erred because the time entries by Kraatz's counsel are excessive and unreasonable and should be reduced to a reasonable amount commensurate with the limited recovery Kraatz was awarded after twice rejecting settlement offers for more than twice the principal sum recovered.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS ON THE VALUE OF STOCK WERE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

Kraatz claims the trial court's findings valuing Heritage's stock at \$3,100,000 were clearly erroneous. The Contract provided:

Company and Employee hereby agree that the fair market value of Company's stock, as of the date of this Agreement, is Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$2,500,000.00). Said Value is hereinafter referred to as the "Initial Value." (R. 4068). (Emphasis added).

The Contract then provided upon termination without cause, Kraatz would be entitled to fifteen percent of any increase in the value of Heritage in excess of the \$2,500,000

initial valuation. (R. 4068). On remand, the trial court awarded \$90,000 to Kraatz for his Stock Appreciation Rights.

Immediately after the Contract was signed, Kraatz took over as General Manager, and during that time, Heritage had the following losses:

1990 loss of \$295,515
1991 profit of \$5,169
1992 loss of \$124,980 (Ex. 333) (R. 4984).

\$415,326.00 TOTAL LOSS DURING KRAATZ TENURE.

It is difficult to contemplate a dealership with an agreed upon fair market value of 2,500,000,⁵ which proceeds to lose \$415,326 from 1990 through 1992, could then be said to be valued at \$4,200,000 when Kraatz was terminated. B. Wilkinson testified the dealership declined 50% in net worth during Kraatz's tenure. Kraatz states on p. 35 of his Brief that the accounting records only reflect decline in net worth of 18.83%. (Kraatz Brief p.35). Whether the decline in value was 18.83% or 50%, it should be obvious Heritage did not increase in value almost \$2,000,000, as claimed by Kraatz.

⁵ Kraatz claims the agreed upon value in the Contract is not the best evidence of value. In support of this notion, Kraatz cites *Glezos v. Frontier Investments*, 896 P.2d 1230 (Utah Ct. App. 1995), and asserts the time of approximately 27 months between when the Contract was entered and when Kraatz was terminated was too attenuated to be accurate. However, in *Glezos*, this Court cited "extraneous matters" that rendered the sale price less reliable than the appraiser's opinion in that case. *Id.* at 1235. Thus, *Glezos* is distinguishable from the valuation facts in this case. Kraatz is simply trying to re-write the Contract.

The testimony at trial between Kraatz's expert, Mark Schmitz, and Larry Miller, who purchased the dealership, was conflicting. Schmitz admitted he based his valuation of more than \$4,400,000 on a subjectively determined capitalization rate of 17.5% (R. 2239), after making numerous adjustments to actual income.⁶ (R. 2238-40, 2286 & 2300). He also based his valuation on an NADA guide of "above-average" dealers, rather than actually evaluating the Heritage dealership (R. 2322).

In contrast to the subjective, poorly supported testimony from Kraatz's expert, the court heard testimony from Larry Miller, who purchased a majority interest in the dealership shortly after Kraatz was terminated. Mr. Miller testified he had purchased 30-35 dealerships at that time, and that he generally pays book value plus approximately \$2,000,000 blue sky. (R. 2217-18). The book value of Heritage at the time he purchased was \$1,100,000. (R. 2217-18). Thus, when you add \$2,000,000 for blue sky, it yields a value of \$3,100,000.

Kraatz attempts to use Mr. Miller's deposition testimony to suggest he valued the dealership at more than \$3,000,000 - \$3,100,000. However, Mr. Miller's trial testimony of \$3,000,000 - \$3,100,000 merely clarified his deposition testimony, which is entirely appropriate. *See Transilift Equipment, LTD v. Cunningham*, 360 S.E.2d

⁶ These adjustments include advertising expense, owner's compensation, rent and legal expense. (R. 2238).

183, 188 (Va. 1987) (holding “a litigant-witness has the right to explain or clarify his testimony, including previously entered deposition statements and interrogatory answers”); *Klaus v. Goetz*, 505 P.2d 726, 731 (Kan. 1973) (“Any witness may explain his deposition testimony which has been taken without the benefit of court supervision or intervention.”).

Mr. Miller purchased 60% of the stock in Heritage, leaving a minority of shareholders in the dealership. Although the minority owned 40% of the dealership, it was not a controlling interest, and not a significant factor when Miller valued the dealership. (R. 2201-02). Under the Stock Purchase Agreement (R. 4073-76), Mr. Miller only paid \$360,000 for a 60% interest. The remainder of the total purchase price was allocated to items such as a Non-Compete Agreement (Ex. 88) and a Deferred Compensation Agreement. (Ex. 86), all of which were corporation obligations to be paid from 100% of the Stock. This formed the basis for Miller’s opinion valuing the dealership at between \$3,000,000 and \$3,100,000, since the corporation paid for 100% of all other obligations and since he personally purchased 60% of the stock for only \$360,000. (R. 2216-17). This is also why Mr. Miller declared it’s not “fair to cut, paste and glue this deal and try and come up with the biggest number.” (R. 2209). As he stated repeatedly to Kraatz’s counsel, “you’re mixing apples and oranges.” (R. 2198, *see also* R. 2201 & 2209). Mr. Miller walked away from various prior deals, which can’t be reconstituted. (R. 2209-10).

Mr. Miller was clear in testifying that Heritage was not worth \$4.2 million in September of 1992. (R. 2200-02). His old discussions to purchase the remaining stock from B. Wilkinson's four children for \$300,000 each was "keeping a commitment" to B. Wilkinson which the parties had been discussing for "11 or 12 years." (R. 2201). But if "you talk about the value of the stock, I still say it comes back to 3 million." (R. 2202). Mr. Miller's personal relationship with B. Wilkinson is irrelevant to the issue of valuation. Further, the children's stock was never purchased for \$300,000 or any other sum.

Kraatz claims the dealership was attractive to Mr. Miller because it historically had expenses that were "out of whack" (R. 2084) that could be reduced. (Kraatz Brief, p. 33). Kraatz argues the accounting practices used by Heritage were improper and should be adjusted when valuing the dealership. However, the accounting methods utilized by Heritage were never challenged as unacceptable to American Honda, Inc., and furthermore, Heritage passed an IRS audit with only one minor correction of a mere \$4,000. (R. 2179-80). Finally, Kraatz never objected to the accounting while he was employed with Heritage. (R. 4996). Given the foregoing, there is no basis to adjust the accounting records, to rewrite the Contract and to artificially inflate the value of the dealership to yield Kraatz larger damages.

The trial court heard and considered the above evidence in finding the value of the dealership was consistent with Mr. Miller's testimony of a \$3,100,000. (R. 2216-

22). The court held:

Given the hotly disputed conflicts in the evidence, this Court is left, therefore, to assess the credibility of the witnesses' testimony. This has been done, and in this Court's view, the more credible, persuasive evidence is established by Larry H. Miller. (R. 5000 & 2466-67).

This Court must award deference to the trial court's finding of valuation based on credibility among conflicting testimony. *See State in Interest of C.B.*, 1999 App. 293, 989 P.2d 76,77 ("We review findings of fact for clear error, with deference given to the trial court."). There is more than sufficient evidence in the record to support and justify the trial court's decision, and there is no basis to overturn the trial court's finding on appeal as clearly erroneous.

POINT II

KRAATZ IS NOT ENTITLED TO EXTRACONTRACTUAL DAMAGES

This Court's prior decision reversed and remanded for "a determination of Kraatz's damages under the contract . . ." (Memo Decision, p.4). This Court did not remand for determination of extracontractual damages outside the Contract. In fact, in Kraatz's first appeal he asserted the Employee Handbook and benefits thereunder should have been added to the integrated Contract (Kraatz 1st Brief, p. 13, 27, 29). In his Reply Brief, he requested "remand for damages beyond his health benefits and vested stock appreciation rights." (Kraatz Reply Brief, p. 25). However, Kraatz did

not raise the other extracontractual damage issues in his first appeal that he now claims on his second appeal, e.g., Jazz tickets, warranty income and daughter's tennis lessons.

Thus, to the extent Kraatz raised claims for extracontractual damages in his first appeal, those claims are precluded from consideration on his second appeal because this Court limited the scope on remand to "damages under the contract" only. Additionally, to the extent he failed to raise those issues in his first appeal, he either failed to preserve or he waived those issues, and those claims are also precluded from consideration in a second appeal. Issues raised for the first time in the second appeal may not be considered. *See Bonaparte v. Neff*, 838 P.2d 317, 319 (Id. Ct. App. 1992) ("Because [plaintiff] raises this issue for first time in this second appeal, we may not address it."). *See also Mercantile First Na'l Bank v. Lee*, 790 S.W.2d 916, 919 (Ark. 1990) ("On second appeal, as in this case, the decision of the first appeal becomes the law of the case, and is conclusive of every question of law or fact decided in the former appeal, and also of those which may have been, but were not, presented."). This panel may not overrule the prior panel's Memo Decision, barring clear error or changed conditions. *See State v. Menzies*, 889 P.2d 393, 399, *cert. denied*, 513 U.S. 1115 (1995) (Utah 1994).

Furthermore, this Court's Memo Decision held "the trial court erred in considering extrinsic evidence." Kraatz cites *Berube v. Fashion Center, Ltd.*, 771 P.2d 1033, 1044 (Utah 1989) and *Heslop v. Bank of Utah*, 839 P.2d 828 (Utah 1992) when

arguing that an implied in fact contract was created to supposedly open the door for extracontractual damages. However, if extrinsic evidence cannot be used to determine whether there was cause for termination, it should not be used to attempt to show Kraatz's Contract was orally modified, creating a windfall of extracontractual damages for Kraatz.

Kraatz is claiming "subsequent compensation enhancements" for his daughter's tennis lessons, his future golfing plans, St. George home subsidies, Christmas bonuses, Jazz tickets, retirement contributions and participation in warranty service contracts. Paragraph 3.2 of the Contract, entitled "Additional Compensation," provides: "Employee may receive additional compensation within the discretion of Company for other services rendered or other duties as assigned by the Company and agreed to by Employee." (Emphasis supplied). The trial court already concluded there was no basis for any additional compensation:

Section 3.2 of the Agreement requires Plaintiff to provide additional consideration for any additional compensation Heritage, in its discretion, may provide. Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate any evidence of further consideration given by him for any additional compensation or perks received during his employment. The use of Jazz tickets, payments for Plaintiff's daughter's tennis lessons, participation in service contract companies of Lariat and Ryan, retirement, Christmas bonus, or St. George home subsidy are not 'compensation' under the Agreement. (R. 5001).

This conclusion was not invalidated or reversed by this Court's Memo Decision. In fact, as set forth above, those claims are not within the scope of this Court's remand for "a determination of Kraatz's damages under the contract."

The evidence adduced also does not support Kraatz's claims. He admitted the following at trial: B. Wilkinson never promised to indefinitely pay the differential between the rental of St. George home and the mortgage on his Salt Lake home (R. 1859); the \$500 Christmas bonus was not in his written Contract (R. 1865); the Jazz tickets were not included in his written Contract and B. Wilkinson determined who got Jazz tickets (R. 2142-45 & Ex. 38); the retirement benefit contributions were not in his written Contract (R. 1865); and Kraatz admitted he did not provide any additional consideration for warranty income. (R. 1857-58). Thus, there is no evidentiary⁷ or legal bases for these claims. Kraatz asserts in his brief there was no evidence presented that the 401(k) plan and Christmas bonuses were modified or terminated after he left. However, there was no evidence they continued unmodified. In fact, Kraatz did not

⁷ This Court's decision in the first appeal did not disturb the trial court's finding that: "Plaintiff has failed to provide sufficient evidence that the parties modified the Agreement to include any benefits, perks, or compensation not specifically stated in the Agreement." (R. 1710-11). Kraatz's claim for Christmas bonuses under Heritage's Employee Handbook ignores the trial court's conclusion, also undisturbed on appeal, that the parties intended the Contract to be integrated. Kraatz admitted there was no mention of Exhibit 135 [Employee Handbook] in the Contract, and he also admitted he did not know of the existence of the Employee Handbook at that time. (R. 1843). Also, Kraatz testified the Contract between the parties did not include the corporate policy manual. (R. 1843-44 & Ex. 135).

present any evidence on these issues at all.

Assuming, *arguendo*, there is a legal basis for any additional compensation, it was “within the discretion” of Heritage. As this Court declared, “The ordinary meaning of contract terms is often best determined through standard, non-legal dictionaries.” (Memo Decision, p. 2). Discretion is defined as follows:

Liberty of action; freedom in the exercise of judgment. *Webster’s New Int’l Comprehensive Dictionary* 365 (1999).

Any extracontractual or discretionary benefit Kraatz may have occasionally enjoyed while at Heritage ended when he was terminated. Just as Heritage had the discretion to grant additional compensation, it had the discretion to withhold it. Parties may reserve discretion in compensation in an employment Contract.

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